IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complaint,

vs. : Case No. 91,472

WILLIAM B. FREDERICKS, JR. :

Respondent. :

SID J. WHITE 7/3/
JUL 6 1998)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF FINDINGS OF THE REFEREE
IN A DISCIPLINARY MATTER CONDUCTED UNDER AUTHORITY OF
RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT H. GRAY, ESQUIRE FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0435333 P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 26, 1997, the Florida Bar filed a complaint charging Respondent with violating Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-8.4(c) regarding representation of Complainant Peter E. Winston. A hearing was held on March 6, 1998 before the Honorable Jay Paul Cohen, Circuit Judge for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, duly appointed Referee. Following the hearing Judge Cohen filed a Report of Referee on March 30, 1998 making findings of facts, recommending that Respondent be found Guilty of Violating Rule 4-8.4(c), as well as Rules 4-1.3 and 4-14, and recommending that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of six months and thereafter until Respondent proves rehabilitation pursuant to 3-5.1(e). Respondent filed a Petition for review on June 4, 1998.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Complainant Peter E. Winston was employed by American Cyanamid from October 1979 until October 1982 (R17--2-7). In October 1982 Winston was terminated from American Cyanamid (R18--14,15). Despite the fact the termination was due to American Cyanamid's reduction in workforce (R18--18,19) and as a member of management he had no seniority rights (R18--23,24), Winston felt that he was wrongfully terminated as a result of his service in the National Guard. Based upon this belief he was referred to Respondent William B. Fredericks, who was also in the National Guard, by a mutual acquaintance in the Guard (R16--20-25,R17--1).

Winston initially testified that he met Respondent for the first time (R21--11-13) when he paid a retainer to him "around January or the first part of '84" (R21--14-18). Later in the proceeding Winston indicated he retained Respondent in November or December of 1993 (R42--14-25). Respondent testified that he was retained in early 1983 (R83--24,25), R84--1) and produced correspondence dated March 31, 1983 (Respondent's Exhibit 1) April 18, 1983 (Respondent's Exhibit 7), May 6, 1983 (Respondent's Exhibit 6) as well as a memo from his secretary in Winston's file dated July 7, 1983 (Respondent's Exhibit 3) which verified his employment prior to that as alleged by Winston.

Winston testified that he retained Respondent after the Labor Relations Board denied his claim (R19--17-25, R20--1-20). Respondent's Exhibit 3, a memo from Respondent's secretary in Winston's file, states "Mr. Winston has indicated that he does not

want us to proceed further until the allegations have been investigated by the U.S. Department of Labor and when these investigations are complete, then we will determine whether or not to file suit." Respondent further produced a letter from Edward Finley, assistant state director for veteran's employment and training for the U.S. Department of Labor closing the file based on lack of evidence which was dated September 21, 1983 (R92--1-9).

Winston testified the retainer was in the amount of eleven hundred dollars (R21--9,10) but could provide no corroboration of that fact (R21--25, R22-1-6). Respondent testified that he believed the retainer was less than eleven hundred dollars but could not say the exact amount because he had no financial records for 1983 (R7--18-21).

Winston testified that Respondent might have talked with him about going to congressional offices in an effort to have them intervene on his behalf but he never personally spoke with any senators or congressional aides (R38--15-25). Later when confronted with this testimony Winston indicated he had gone to Senator Chiles' office prior to retaining Respondent (R45--16-24). Respondent testified that he sent Winston to the offices and produced correspondence from Senator Chiles' and Congressman Bilerakis' offices in March and September of 1983 responding to their visits (R46--7-20, R93--1-25, R94--1-25).

Winston testified that Respondent indicated to him that he had filed a lawsuit in state court late in 1984 (R22--13-22). He further testified Respondent advised him in November, 1985 the

other side had defaulted and he had been awarded twenty-five thousand dollars (R22--24,25, R23--1-25, R24--1-6). Winston then indicated Respondent claimed he was filing a concurrent federal lawsuit and the state award could not be disbursed (R24--10-25). Winston claims Respondent advised him in December of 1993 that a mediator had worked out a settlement wherein Winston would receive a fifty-seven thousand dollar lump sum payment at the end of 1993 or beginning of 1994 with a twenty thousand dollar a year payment for ten years thereafter (R27--14-21). He indicated he called Respondent on an almost daily basis for years and accepted this story (R29--1-25, R29--1-5).

The Bar offered only the testimony of Winston's wife, Jennifer Winston and mother, Sue Winston, in an effort to corroborate this tale.

Both Jennifer and Sue Winston's testimony regarded the narrow time frame of 1995-1996 (R66--4,5, R72--3-6, R75--9-25) while Respondent was handling paternity and child custody cases for Winston.

Jennifer Winston testified that she had discussed a federal lawsuit with her husband (R66--6-12) and references to conversations with Respondent about disbursement of funds (R66--22-25) and needing to finish some paperwork (R71--7-25, R72--1,2). Jennifer Winston's contacts with Respondent were in reference to paternity issues (R67--5-26, R71--13-16). Sue Winston testified she had contact with Respondent on several occasions at the request of her son (R73--20-25, R74--106). The contacts involved the exchange of

checks and/or papers between Respondent and Sue Winston (R74--7-25, R75--1-13). On cross-examination it was revealed the papers related to the paternity action (R76--16-24).

Respondent testified that Winston left on active duty and was gone for an extended period of time (R94--14,17, R95--1) and upon his return advised Respondent not to proceed with a suit because he wanted to try and get his job back (R95--9-16) and then left for Fort Sill for a year (R95--17-25). Upon his return Winston wanted to file the lawsuit (R96--22-25, R97--1-13). Respondent advised Winston that he was running out of time to file the suit and that it would cost money to do so (R96--22-25, R97--1-25).

It is unrebutted that at this time Respondent referred Winston to Sgt. Major Joe Warner of the National Guard in Orlando in an effort to obtain legal aid (R99--3-6). It is also unrebutted that Respondent referred Winston to Michael Raiden, then a Clerk for the Second District Court of Appeal and currently a County Court Judge in and for Polk County (R99--14-25, R100--1-3). Respondent also testified that at this point he referred Winston to Thomas Clark, a former judge who was currently practicing with the firm of Lane, Trohn (R86--6-15) although Winston denies this. It is, however, uncontroverted and agreed upon by both that Respondent referred Winston to Thomas Clark at some point in the 90's (R86--1-25, R87--1-13, R117--17-23, R110--16-25, R54--14-25, R55--1-13), although Winston maintains it was for the purpose of suing for damages and interest on the award that had not been disbursed (R55--7-13).

It is uncontroverted and agreed by both parties that Respondent was never paid by Winston for divorce, paternity and child custody cases he performed and that Frederick's secretary made repeated requests for payment in these matters (R52--3-10, R--50-6-10). Winston maintained that there was an agreement that Respondent would be paid from the proceeds of the phantom settlement (R--49-24-25, R50--1-5) but conceded that Respondent's secretary knew nothing about this arrangement (R50--10,11, R52--21-23).

Respondent testified he had received a letter from Winston several years ago advising that he intended to sue Respondent and requesting to know who his malpractice carrier was (R114--19-25, R115--1-6). Winston initially denied writing a letter threatening to sue Respondent, stating "The only letter I ever wrote was to the Bar Association asking for help" (R121--24,25, R122--1,2, but when specifically asked about a letter inquiring of Respondent's insurance carrier admitted that he had written such a letter (R122--6-22).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar alleges Respondent lied to Winston over a period of 13 years regarding the existence of a settlement in a wrongful termination case. In order to uphold the findings of the referee the Bar must show the proof of Respondent's violation by clear and convincing evidence.

The referee erred in making his findings of facts and recommendation of guilt.

In analyzing testimony, the Court did not accord proper weight to unrebuted testimony, the evasive, inconclusive and uncorroborated testimony of the complainant nor the testimony regarding two judges. The referee clearly did not attach great significance to the testimony of the complainant, characterizing the nature of his testimony as "bizarre", "incredible" and "preposterous".

Morever, the court committed fundamental reversible error by specifically citing the improper consideration of Respondent's prior disciplinary record as evidence of guilt and failing to recognize the alternative reasonable hypothesis of innocence for failing to receive payment from complainant for other legal services rendered.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE</u>I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND ARE ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED.

The Florida Supreme Court's review of the referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial de novo. The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987), The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1994). The Court does not sit in bar disciplinary hearings as a finder of fact, having delegated that responsibility to the referee. The Florida Bar v. Bajoczky, 558 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1990)

Rule 3-7.5 (K)(1) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar provides that the referee's findings of fact "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding." The Florida Bar v. Hooper, Supra, The Florida Bar v. Gross, 610 So.2d 442 (Fla. 1992).

The burden is upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that the referee's report is "erroneous, unlawful or unjustified." Rule Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.(6)(c)(5), The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1990). While some opinions, The Florida Bar v. Spann, 682, So.2d 1070 (Fla. 1996), The Florida Bar v. Laing, 695 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1997), The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1998), state that the party contesting that the referees findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous in attorney disciplinary proceedings carries the burden of demonstrat-

ing that there is "no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions," (emphasis added), this is probably an overstatement.

The Florida Bar v. Conto, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla 1996), and The Florida Bar v. Martocci, 699 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 1997), indicate that the party seeking review has the burden of showing that the referee's findings are "clearly erroneous or unsupported by the record."

The majority of cases seem to indicate that the referee's findings of fact should be upheld "unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record." (fn 1) or a slight variation of

The Florida Bar v. Boland 702 So.2d 229 (Fla 1998), The Florida Bar v. Carter, 410 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1982), The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1991), The Florida Bar v. Krovitz, 694 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1997), The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 406 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1981), The Florida Bar v. McMillan, 600 So.2d 457 (Fla 1992), The Florida Bar v. Martocci, Supra, The Florida Bar v. McClure, 575 So.2d 176 (Fla 1991), The Florida Bar v. Miele, 605 So.2d 866 (Fla 1992), The Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So.2d 266, (Fla. 1992), The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1990), The Florida Bar v. Spann, Supra, The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986), The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986), The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770 (Fla. 1968).

this language - "clearly erroneous or without support in the record "(fn ²) and" clearly erroneous or nonsupported by the record" (fn ³). Several cases use the conjunctive and state the findings of fact will be upheld unless "clearly erroneous <u>and</u> lacking in evidentiary support."(emphasis added) (fn ⁴).

If the referee's findings of fact are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support the Florida Supreme Court may substitute it's judgment for that of the referee, <u>Bar v. Weiss</u>, 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1991).

In order to be upheld, the referee's findings must be based upon "legally sufficient evidence." The Florida Bar v. Abramson, 199 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1967), The Florida Bar v. Hooper, Supra.

Where there is not "competent, substantial evidence" to support the referee's findings the Supreme Court may reweigh the evidence and substitute it's judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Clement, 662 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1995). The Florida Bar v. Marable, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994).

The Florida Bar v. Barcus, 697 So.2d 71, (Fla. 1997), The Florida Bar v. Lipmon, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986), The Florida Bar v. McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1983), The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So.2d. 1080 (1994), The Florida Bar v. Orta, 689 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1997).

³ The Florida Bar v. Conto, supra.

⁴ The Florida Bar v. Nealy, 502 So.2d 1237 (1987), The Florida Bar v. Seldin, 526 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1988). The Florida Bar v. Marable, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994), The Florida Bar v. Clement, 662 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1995).

In the instant case there is not competent, substantial evidence to support the referee's findings of fact.

The Bar's case consists almost entirely of Winston's uncorroborated story. Throughout the course of his testimony Winston was constantly impeached by concrete evidence or his own admissions.

Apparently the referee placed no weight upon the testimony of the mother and wife of Winston, insofar as he failed to cite them in his findings of fact.

In evaluating Winston's allegations the referee referred to the facts as "bizarre," "incredible," "preposterous" and stated it is "hard to see the rational or logic" in Respondent's alleged actions. The referee held "in light of Winston's lack of documentary evidence the allegations could easily be dismissed," but failed to do so for two specific pieces of evidence - Respondent's prior disciplinary record and failure to secure payment from Winston for handling the other cases.

1. The Court erred in admitting and considering Respondent's previous disciplinary history as evidence of Respondent's guilt.

Upon calling Respondent as a witness, counsel for the Bar immediately examined Respondent at length regarding his prior disciplinary history (R77--9 through R 83--15).

Rules of Civil Procedure apply after appointment of referee if no provision in the rules governing procedures before the referee apply. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7-6 (e)(1), The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1993). Although Fla. Standards to Impose Lawyer Sanctions 9-22 provides for the consideration of

prior disciplinary history at the sanction phrase of the report, there is no express provision for it's consideration in the guilt phase, The Florida Bar v. Jordan, supra.

Disciplinary hearings are neither civil non criminal, but are quasi-judicial, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7-6 (e)(i), The Florida Bar v. Vannier, supra, The Florida Bar v. Clement, supra.

As such the Court has held that failures to comply with certain evidentiary provisions were not violations of due process and the referee is not barred by technical rules of evidence State ex.rel. The Florida Bar5 v. Junkin, 89 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1956), State ex. rel. Kehoe v. McRae, 49 Fla. 389, 38 So. 605 (1985), The Florida Bar v. Vannier, supra.

This has included the admissibility of hearsay, <u>The Florida Bar v. DeSerio</u>, 529 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1988), <u>The Florida Bar v. Vannier</u>, supra, and failure to comply with statutory requirements regarding affidavits and testimony <u>The Florida Bar v. Clement</u>, supra.

However, in the instances where the Referee failed to comply with the evidentiary rules the Court went to great lengths to demonstrate that any error was harmless.

In <u>DeSerio</u> the Court observed that the record supported the finding of fact and there was no reliance upon uncorroborated hearsay.

In <u>Vannier</u> the Court made it clear that the hearsay in question was adequately authenticated and its reliability established. In <u>Clement</u> the Court ruled any error was harmless in light

of the attorney's testimony admitting the substance of the witnesses' testimony.

Nevertheless, in <u>Clement</u> the Court ruled that even though disciplinary hearings are not governed by the rules of evidence, it would be better practice to comply with the statutes.

All relevant evidence is admissible except as provided by law Florida Statutes 90.4025.

But otherwise relevant evidence is inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Florida Statutes 90.403.

Florida Statutes 90.404(2)(a) provides similar fact evidence is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue. Brown v. State, 513 So.2d 213 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Evidence of collateral crimes is not admissible on the basis of mere similarity, there must be something unique or unusual that renders it to become a means of proof of a relevant issue. Wicker v. State, 445 So.2d 581 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959). In the instant case there has been no showing of unique similarity or compelling relevance.

Similar fact evidence is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

Florida Statutes 90.404(2)(a).

In <u>Parks v. Zitnik</u>, 453 So.2d 434 (2d DCA 1984). The Court ruled that it was error to allow questioning of defendant's convictions where there was no predicate laid to show the information would be relevant to proving a material fact in issue. The

error was deemed not be harmless where the credibility of the parties was crucial even though the case was tried by the Court rather than the jury. In the instant case certainly the credibility of the parties was critical. Therefore the questioning regarding Respondent's prior disciplinary history was not harmless error.

2. The Court erred in it's finding of fact that Respondent's failure to receive payment from Winston for his representation in other matters was an indication of Respondent's quilt.

At most the failure to receive payment for Winston constitutes circumstantial evidence of guilt. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Marable</u>, 647 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994), the Court ruled circumstantial evidence can be used to prove intent in bar discipline hearings. However, to be legally sufficient evidence of guilt the circumstantial evidence must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

The Referee concluded that this failure to receive payment corroborated Winston's claim that the money would be paid from the settlement. This is a ludicrous assertion insofar as Respondent would be, in effect, cheating himself since he would have known the money was not forthcoming. It also fails to explain Respondent's secretary's uncontested repeated requests for payment. Even if the requests were merely for filing costs why wouldn't they have been taken from the phantom settlement as well?

In the instant case, as well as <u>Marable</u>, the facts do not eliminate a reasonable hypothesis of innocence and do not constitute competent substantive evidence.

3. The Referee erred in relying upon the erroneous and inconclusive testimony of the complaining witness in making his findings of facts.

Winston was repeatedly impeached and changed his story regarding the date he retained Respondent, (R21--11-13, R21--14-18, R42--14-25) and Respondent's Exhibits 1, 6 and 7, whether Respondent assisted him with the Labor Board (R19--17-25, R20--1-20, R92-1-9) and whether Respondent assisted him with congressional representation (R38--15-25, R45--16-24, R46--7-20, R93--1-25 and R94--1-25).

The testimony of Winston is not free of substantial doubts or inconsistencies, The Florida Bar v. Raymar, supra. The degree of evidence necessary to convict does not flow from the testimony of one witness unless it is corroborated to some extent by facts or circumstances. The Florida Bar v. Raymar, supra.

Solely testimony of complaining witness, evasive and inconclusive, does not establish to any degree of certainty the notion of the employment nor exact amount of money received by him. State v. Ex. Rel. The Florida Bar v. Jenkins, supra. In Jenkins the Court found that except for the accused's statements there was no evidence in the record that the money was not used for the purpose it was given, as in the instant case. Furthermore, in dismissing

the charge the Court noted the ill will the complainant bore Respondent as well as the lapse of time in receiving the testimony.

4. The Referee erred in arbitrarily rejecting the unrebutted testimony addressed by Respondent in making his findings of fact The Florida Bar v. Clement, supra.

It is uncontroverted that Respondent sent Winston to former Judge Thomas Clark at the law firm of Lane Trohn (R86--6-15) as well as to current Judge Michael Raiden, who was then a law clerk at the Second District Court of Appeal (R99--14-25, R100--1-3) to review the merits of the case. The referral of Winston to two prominent attorneys at the risk of having his purported fraud uncovered is entirely inconsistent with the Bar's unrebutted testimony. The Florida Bar v. Clement, supra.

5. The Referee erred in failing to give serious consideration in the uncontroverted testimony regarding the judges in the instant case. In The Florida Bar v. Raymar, supra, the Court held that the testimony of three judges in support of the attorney was "not controlling... but deserving of serious consideration." In the instant case the unrebutted testimony is even more compelling. In order to accept Winston's facts one must presuppose that Respondent sent him to a former judge in a well-respected law firm to discuss a lawsuit regarding a settlement that didn't exist. Either Respondent must have believed Judge Clark would ignore the violation when this was discovered or assume former Judge Clark would also join in this charade for no apparent benefit. Not only that but one must also reach the same conclusions regarding

Respondent's referral of Winston to current Judge Raiden. In Raymar, the Referee merely had to disregard the testimony of three judges regarding the attorney's honor to reach the Bar's conclusion. In the instant case the Referee must impugn the integrity of the two judges in order to do so.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AS TO GUILT ARE ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED.

The bar has the burden of proof at a disciplinary hearing.

The Florida Bar v. Hooper, supra, The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644

So.2d 504 (Fla. 1994), The Florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1099

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