FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CLERK, SURREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

Complainant,

Case No. 91,472 [TFB Case No. 97-30,055(10A)]

v.

WILLIAM B. FREDERICKS, JR.,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

JAN K. WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida 32804-6314 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 381586

JUL 29 1998 -

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent argues that the bar must show proof, by clear and convincing evidence, of the respondent's violation, in order to uphold the referee's findings of fact. This court has clearly established that a referee's findings of fact and recommendations of guilt are presumed correct. Further, the burden to overcome this presumption falls upon the party disputing the referee's findings. The respondent has not met this burden, therefore, the referee's findings of fact should be upheld.

Much of the respondent's arguments in his brief are based on challenging the credibility of Mr. Winston. The referee was in the best position to judge credibility and he chose to believe Mr. Winston and not the respondent. While the respondent suggests that the referee characterized Mr. Winston's testimony as bizarre, a careful reading of the referee's report indicates that it is the actions of the respondent to which the referee refers.

The referee's allowance of prior discipline into evidence before a finding of guilt was with the specific concurrence of the respondent. The respondent did not object to the introduction of this evidence. Respondent also presented arguments to explain the circumstances surrounding his prior discipline. Further, it is clear from the referee's report that the respondent's prior

discipline was only one factor he considered in making his recommendation as to guilt.

The referee's recommendation of a six (6) month suspension is supported by the evidence and existing case law and is not excessive or erroneous as the respondent suggests. Rather, a serious discipline is needed to encourage the respondent's reformation where his previous disciplinary sanction has failed to do so.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND ARE NOT ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED.

In bar proceedings, a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and this court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the referee as long as the findings are not clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, *The Florida Bar v. Bustamante*, 662 So. 2d 687, 698 (Fla. 1995). The party seeking to challenge the referee's findings of fact has the burden of showing those findings are clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence, *The Florida Bar v. Neu*, 597 So. 2d 266, 268 (Fla. 1992). The bar submits the respondent has failed to prove the referee's findings that the respondent neglected a client's legal matter, failed to maintain adequate communication with the client, and made misrepresentations to the client regarding the status of his case, are not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

The respondent argues that the referee did not adequately and/or properly weigh the testimony of the witnesses. The evidence presented before the referee boils down to a credibility contest between the respondent and Mr. Winston as to whether the respondent misrepresented to Mr. Winston that his lawsuit was progressing

when, in fact, he had never filed it. The determination of the credibility of witnesses is part of the referee's responsibilities. The referee made a detailed and candid analysis of the facts and of his findings and the evidence upon which the findings were based. The referee listened to and observed the three witnesses on behalf of Mr. Winston and the respondent, as his own sole witness, and, as the fact finder, resolved the conflicts in the evidence, The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1980). The referee was in the best position to judge credibility because he was able to observe the witnesses' demeanor while testifying and acts to resolve conflicts in the testimony, The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So. 2d 813, 816 (Fla. 1986). The referee here chose to believe Mr. Winston and not the respondent. When the referee's report refers to the events as bizarre, it is to characterize respondent's actions, not to attack Mr. Winston's testimony, [ROR, p. 2]. As the referee candidly noted, respondent's actions in misleading his client for many years regarding the status of his case was "eleven years of various forms of the check is in the mail story," [ROR, p. 2]. It should be noted that Mr. Winston perceived his relationship with the respondent as a friendship based upon their shared military honorability, [T60], and Mr. Winston had no legal knowledge of court proceedings whatsoever and innocently relied upon the respondent's representations, [T63].

Respondent argues the referee erred in admitting and considering respondent's prior disciplinary history as evidence of his guilt. It should be noted that the respondent was the last witness to testify at the final hearing. The referee had already heard the testimony of three other witnesses. When the bar stated its intent to enter the affidavit of disciplinary history as the bar's exhibit 2, the referee specifically asked the respondent whether he objected to its admittance. Respondent replied "I don't have any objection, Your Honor" [T78]. Thereafter, the referee allowed Bar Ex. 2 be admitted.

Respondent had an opportunity to put forth his explanation of the circumstances surrounding his prior discipline [T78-83]. He further argued that his prior discipline cases were not similar to the instant case [T110-112]. It is clear that respondent was afforded an opportunity to object to the introduction of this evidence. Respondent did not do so, but he chose to instead give his account of the events, with a full opportunity to present any and all mitigating evidence. Thus, any error was waived by the respondent's knowing agreement to the introduction of his past history and was harmless. The referee clearly notes the basis for finding the respondent's testimony unbelievable. In his report, the referee notes that the respondent's lack of payment for representation in subsequent family law matters is consistent with Mr. Winston's testimony that the fees were to be collected in the court settlement [ROR, p. 3]. Further, it is uncontested that the

respondent never wrote to Mr. Winston to advise him to seek other counsel in the lawsuit or to advise of the statute of limitations dates. During the respondent's testimony, the court's questioning of the respondent underscores the facts behind his incredulousness at the respondent's testimony, [T113-115].

POINT II

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AS TO GUILT ARE NOT ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED.

Respondent argues that the referee failed to find intent as to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) regarding his misrepresentations to Mr. Winston. In Neu, supra, and The Florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1991), the Court held that in order to find a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), intent is a necessary element. However, those cases involved misuse of client funds. In a case factually similar to the instant matter, The Florida Bar v. Witt, 626 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 1993), the attorney received a 91-day suspension from the practice of law for his continuing pattern of inaction in client representation. Violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) were found regarding the attorney's misrepresentations to a client regarding the status of his worker's compensation and personal injury claims. The attorney's "intent" was not specifically discussed. In the instant matter, the referee found that the respondent told Mr. Winston a claim was filed in state court, that a judgment had been entered in his favor as the result of the other parties' default, that a suit had been filed in federal court, and that the federal suit had been resolved in mediation. The referee specifically found that "[a]t no time did Fredericks keep Winston properly informed as to the true status of the case." (Emphasis added.) (ROR, p. 3). Clearly the referee's findings in regard to the

respondent's misrepresentations to Mr. Winston are similar to the findings in Witt wherein violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) were also found.

Respondent argues that his due process rights were violated when the referee found him guilty of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.3 and 4-1.4. Respondent cites both civil and criminal cases in support of this argument. However, bar proceedings are neither civil, nor criminal, but are rather quasi-judicial in nature. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(e)(i), *The Florida Bar v. Vannier*, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). This court has held, time and again, that the referee may properly "include information not charged in the bar's complaint...as it is relevant to the question of the respondent's fitness to practice law and thus relevant to the discipline to be imposed." *The Florida Bar v. Stillman*, 401 So. 2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 1981). Respondent acknowledges that "this Court has held that an attorney may be convicted of violating a rule for which he was not charged." In fact, he also provided the citation to several cases which have in fact held so (RB21).

POINT III

THE REFEREE'S DISCIPLINARY RECOMMENDATION IS NOT ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL AND UNJUSTIFIED.

This Court has held that a referee's recommendation of discipline will not be second-guessed so long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law, *The Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So. 2d 1284, 1287 (Fla. 1997). In the instant matter the referee's recommended discipline is in agreement with other discipline cases involving neglect, lack of communication, and misrepresentation to the client.

In The Florida Bar v. Palmer, 504 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 1987), when the attorney's client expressed concern over the running of the statute of limitation in a personal injury lawsuit, the respondent told her that he had already filed suit when in fact he had not done so. Later he lied to her concerning the securing of court dates. He falsely told her that the case had been settled out of court and that the settlement check was in the mail. Respondent received an eight-month suspension from the practice of law. Respondent had no prior disciplinary history.

In The Florida Bar v. Bazley, 597 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1992), the respondent made misrepresentations to his client regarding the status of his suit. The client was not injured. The referee found, in mitigation, that the attorney's actions may have been due to alcohol abuse and recommended a thirty (30) day suspension.

However, the Court found the similar factual circumstances in *Palmer* to be persuasive. Respondent received an eight-month suspension from the practice of law. Respondent had a prior private reprimand.

As in the instant matter, the attorney in Witt, supra, argued that suspension was inappropriate because he had not gained anything in the cases prompting the disciplinary proceedings and no clients were injured due to his inaction. However, the Court found the potential for client injury had there not been an intervening factor or event. In the present matter, it is quite conceivable that Mr. Winston could still be in the dark about his law suit and "recovery" had he not inquired into the matter with The Florida Bar. But for the bar's investigation, Mr. Winston could still believe he had a substantial amount of money coming to him based upon the respondent's representations.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support suspension in this case. Respondent argues that Standard 7.2 requires a finding of injury to the client. This is not the case. Standard 7.2 calls for suspension when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system. While the Standard does not require injury to the client, Mr. Winston was injured by respondent's misrepresentations. Mr. Winston borrowed money to purchase a 1939 Pontiac Coupe based

on respondent's assurances to him that the judgment money was forthcoming [T61]. The Standard is also applicable when injury is caused to the legal system. This court has held in *The Florida Bar v. Gaskin*, 403 So. 2d 425, 426 (Fla. 1981), that "[w]hen a lawyer fails to fulfill his responsibilities the image of the entire legal profession is tarnished...Absolute candor to a client by a lawyer is mandated because the very foundation of an effective attorneyclient relationship is predicated upon mutual trust. Lawyers should never mislead their clients."

This Court has long held that it deals more severely with cumulative misconduct than with isolated misconduct and past disciplinary history will be considered in determining the appropriate sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Greene, 515 So. 2d 1280, 1283 (Fla. 1987). "As a general rule a suspension is appropriate when an attorney is found guilty of misconduct that causes injury or potential injury to the legal system or to the profession and that misconduct is similar to that for which the attorney has been disciplined in the past." The Florida Bar v. Grigsby, 641 So. 2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1994).

Respondent argues the following mitigating factors should be considered: 9.32(b) absence of dishonest motive; 9.32(c) personal and/or emotional problems; 9.32(e) full and free disclosure or cooperative attitude; 9.32(f) inexperience in the practice of law;

and 9.32(i) unreasonable delay in disciplinary proceedings. The bar disagrees that these factors are applicable in the instant The referee found respondent guilty of violating rule 4case. 8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation which indicates a dishonest motive in hiding the truth of his neglect from his client to avoid retribution. The information regarding respondent's parents' poor health was brought before the referee, [T58-59], and appropriately weighed by the referee. Respondent was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1979 and at the time the misconduct began in or around 1985, he had been practicing law for six years. The bar has expeditiously proceeded in this matter upon learning of this situation, many of the most salient events of which took place after the filing of the 1997 complaint when Mr. Winston learned for the first time that respondent had never filed the suit.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt and find that the referee's discipline recommendations of a six (6) month suspension to be appropriate and that the bar's costs be taxed against the respondent totaling \$1,467.25.